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PREFACE

This brief history had its
beginnings when Professor Keith
Sinclair, author of the University’s
Centenary History, asked for some
information on the Chemistry
Department, particularly with
respect to its Foundation Professor
and to its research aims and
directions over its first century.
Our reading and enquiry produced
much of interest, and more than
could be used in a general history.
We therefore decided to enlarge
and expand the account for the
benefit of past and present
students and staff of the Chemistry
Department. We have deliberately
paid more attention to the earlier
years, particularly the headships of
Professors Brown and Worley but
we hope that others will update
the chronicle in due course.
Judgements of history, like good
wines, need time to mature.

We include as appendices lists
of early Honours Graduates from
the Department, of Staff and of
other matters. A full list of
departmental theses and
publications has been prepared,
but it would have been too lengthy
to include here; a copy is held in
the Science Library and the
Departmental Office.

A number of colleagues,
including Professor Sinclair, have
been kind enough to read and
comment on our manuscript and
we express our thanks to them.
However, the opinions expressed
— and any remaining errors or
omissions — are our sole
responsibility.

Finally, we are grateful to
Percival Publishing Co (NZ) Ltd
and to the advertisers whose
assistance has made this
publication possible.

R. C. Cambie.
August, 1982 B. R. Davis.



In The
Beginning

When the Auckland
University College was opened on
May 21st, 1883, the teaching of the
physical sciences was in the hands
of one man, Professor F. D. Brown,
aided by his 17-year-old laboratory
assistant, Arthur Bowell. Their
accommodation was a disused
district Court House in Eden
Street, a shabby, dilapidated
building which had been placed at
the disposal of the College Council
by the Government, Separate
departments of Physics and
Chemistry were established in
1914 and today as we near our
Centenary, the Chemistry .
Department is housed in a modern
seven-storey building and has a
staff of nearly 30, including four
professors and eleven
associate-professors.

The University of Otago had
begun teaching in 1871, and
Canterbury College had followed
in 1874; the establishment of the
Auckland College marked the
beginning of University education
in the North Island. Less than two
weeks after the Auckland
University College Act became law
in September 1882, the
Agent-General for New Zealand in
England, Sir Francis Dillon Bell,
advertised for four professors
including one in Chemistry and
Experimental Physics. The
selectors for this chair were
Professor Frankland of the Royal
School of Mines and Professor
Crum Brown of Edinburgh.

Selected for the Chair of
Chemistry and Experimental
Physics was Frederick Douglas
Brown, a 31-year-old Demonstrator
of Chemistry in the University
Museum, Oxford. Brown was born
in Woodford, Essex, in 1851, and
studied at the “Lycee” (or State
School) in Strasbourg and had
subsequently gained a B.Sc. in the
University of France. On the
outbreak of war between France
and Germany in 1870 he had
returned to England* and had
worked successively at St.
Bartholomew's Hospita»l;-[ul‘&iﬂ-‘«?](b;
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the Royal College of Chemistry
(1871-72, on chemical analysis)
and at Leipzig with the famous
Professor Kolbe (1872-73, on
organic chemistry). He returned to
London in the summer of 1873,
gaining a B.Sc. in the University of
London (in mineralogy, geology,
and allied subjects). Thereafter, he
carried out research in organic
chemistry with H. E. Armstrong

at the London Institution (four
papers were published as a result
of this work) and in physical
chemistry with Professor Frederick
Guthrie. Early in 1880 he went to
Oxford as a Demonstrator of
Chemistry in the University
Museum. Professor William
Odling was Waynflete Professor of
Chemistry at the time and under
Odling the Demonstrators did all
of the laboratory teaching. The
rank of Demonstrator was
considered to be a reasonably
senior one and good enough to
lead to a Professorship in an
English University. Brown was
well thought of by his peers and
Brown's recommendation for
Fellowship of the Chemical
Society in 1873 reads like a “who's
who” of English organic chemistry
of the times, containing as
signatories W. H. Perkin, H. E.
Armstrong, E. Frankland, A. Pedler
and W. Valentine.

During the period 1878-82,
Brown published nine papers on
topics in physical chemistry,
chiefly on fractional distillation.
This was sound and detailed
experimental work but does not
seem to have been very novel nor
to have had great importance in
the development of the subject.
While at Oxford Brown was
heavily involved in teaching at the
University, at Magdalen College
School, Oxford, at Bedford
College, London, at Clifton
College, and at the Ladies’ College,
Cheltenham. He applied,
unsuccessfully, for the Chair at
Newcastle in 1882 but soon
afterwards was offered the
Auckland post, being appointed
from a large field. His nine referees

Professor Brown

Professor Thomus.

Prafessor Tucker.

The Foundation Professors.

all spoke highly of him, with the
emphasis on his teaching and
experimental skill, one describing
him as a pleasant and genial man
to work with.

Brown arrived in Auckland on
May 1st, 1883, accompanied by his
own personal laboratory assistant,
Arthur H. Bowell. Brown's
appointment was made at a salary
of £700 per annum together with
student’s fees, a relatively high
salary in those days. Professor G.
F. Walker, the new Professor of
Mathematics, who had arrived a
few days earlier, was drowned on
the same day on a boating trip on
the harbour. Until the appointment
of Walker’s successor, Professor
Brown and Professor (later Sir)
Algernon Thomas, who had been
appointed to the Chair of Natural
Science, took over the teaching of
mathematics at the request of the
College Council, with Brown
concentrating on the lectures in
mechanics.

Weekly News Saturday, May 26, 1883

Brown's introduction to his
‘Laboratory’ by Sir Maurice
O'Rorke, first Chairman of the
College Council, must have been
something of a shock. Brown had
been told in England that his
department would be housed in
Government House but on arrival
he found that he was to have the
old Court House in Eden Street
overlooking the Waitemata
Harbour, a temporary home for the
Auckland (Boys') Grammar School
during 1878, but abandoned by the
school at the end of 1879. Between
it and Beach Road was a tangled
mass of manuka and fennel which,
according to the College Jubilee
Book of 1933, was ‘‘the nocturnal
haunt of the city’s undesirables”’
The situation had arisen because
the Government had ignored the
recommendation of the founding
Royal Commission that £12,500
should be devoted to the erection
of suitable buildings to house the
College, and the College Council

*Itis highly probable that Brown was the student referred to in Sir Norman Moore's “The Histary of Saint Bartholomew's Hospital”', Vol. I, pp. 816-8.
“In 1868 Augustus Matthiessen became Odling’s assistant lecturer, and in 1870 his successor. In the summer of the Franco-German war he had two private
pupils. One had worked at chemistry in Strasbourgtill a shell passed through a house inwhich he wag lodging, and | was the other . ..






